VIII. Professorships and Teaching Fellowships

The John P. Wilson Professorship in Law was established in 1929 with funds contributed for the John P. Wilson Memorial Foundation by John P. Wilson, Jr., and Anna Wilson Dickinson as a memorial to their father, John P. Wilson, for many years an eminent member of the Chicago Bar. The holders of the John P. Wilson Professorship have been Ernst Freund, Harry Augustus Bigelow, Wilber Griffith Katz, and Roscoe T. Steffen. The present holder of this professorship is Kenneth C. Davis.

The James Parker Hall Professorship in Law was established in 1930 by the alumni of the School in memory of James Parker Hall, Dean of the School from 1904 until his death in 1928. The holders of the James Parker Hall Professorship have been Edward Wilcox Hinton, George Gleason Bogert, and Wilber Griffith Katz. The present holder of this professorship is Sheldon Tefft.

The Max Pam Professorship in Comparative Law was established in 1935 in memory of Max Pam, for many years an eminent member of the Chicago Bar, with funds allocated by the Trustees under the will of Mr. Pam. The present holder of this professorship is Max Rheinstein.

Under the will of Leo Spitz, J.D. 1910, provision is made for the establishment of The Caroline and Henry Spitz Professorship, in honor of Mr. Spitz's parents. This is a professorship in world organization, law and government, and related problems, including the protection of human rights and the peaceful settlement of international legal and political disputes.

Under the will of Harry A. Bigelow, the University is to receive, upon the death of certain life-beneficiaries, the remainder of a trust fund for the establishment of The Harry A. Bigelow Professorship in Law. Mr. Bigelow was Dean of the Law School from 1929 to 1939, and a member of the Faculty of the Law School from 1904 until his death in 1950.

The Harry A. Bigelow Teaching Fellowships were established in 1947 in honor of Harry A. Bigelow. The fellowships are awarded to law graduates of high standing.

IX. Graduate Fellowships and Research and Special Funds

The Law School has available a number of fellowships for graduate students. These include:

The James Nelson Raymond Fellowship, which was created in 1933 and 1934 by Anna Louise Raymond.

The Law Fellowships, which are supported by gifts of Law alumni to the Law School.

University Fellowships, a limited number of which are reserved for research students in law.

A limited number of special fellowships are available to students in the Foreign Law Program. The amount of these fellowships is $7,500 each, payable over the 21-month period of the Program.

Fellowships for a year of study at the University of Chicago Law School are available to a limited number of students from the British Commonwealth who are graduates in law or in jurisprudence of universities of the British Commonwealth.

A limited number of fellowships are available to graduates of European law schools who desire to pursue a program of graduate study in the Comparative Law Program.

Application for fellowships in connection with graduate work leading to a graduate
degree should be made to the Dean of Students, The Law School, The University of Chicago, Chicago 37.

Special Research Fellowships are available in connection with the various research programs of the School made possible through special grants and through gifts of Law alumni to the Law School Fund. Law-Economics Fellowships are available for graduate lawyers or economists who desire to pursue a program of study and research in the law-economics area. Application for these fellowships should be made to the Dean of the Law School, The University of Chicago, Chicago 37. A gift from an anonymous donor has made possible graduate fellowships concerned with the study of aspects of the legal problems of mass communications.

The Frieda and Arnold Shure Research Fund was established in 1945 by Frieda and Arnold Shure for the publication of legal studies of immediate importance for the public welfare.

The Arnold M. Chutkow Memorial Fund was established in 1958 as a memorial to Arnold M. Chutkow, J.D., 1951, through a gift from Samuel Chutkow, 1920, and the friends and classmates of Arnold Chutkow. The income of the Arnold M. Chutkow Memorial Fund is allocated by the Dean of the Law School toward the expenses of student contestants in moot court competitions and for the benefit of the University of Chicago Law Review.

The Leonard M. Rieser Fund was established in 1959 by the family and friends of Leonard M. Rieser, for many years an eminent member of the Chicago Bar, and a former Lecturer in Law at the Law School, as a memorial to him to be used in a manner consistent with his wide and varied interests in law.

X. The Weymouth Kirkland Courtroom

The Weymouth Kirkland Courtroom, as part of a co-operative effort of Bench, Bar, and School, provides an opportunity for students not only to engage in moot cases, but to observe the conduct of actual cases.

During the academic year 1961–62, in the Autumn quarter, the Illinois Appellate Court, First District, Third Division (Mr. Justice John V. McCormick, Presiding Justice, Mr. Justice Ulysses S. Schwartz, and Mr. Justice John T. Dempsey) met in regular session in the Courtroom on November 8, 1961. The Illinois Supreme Court (Mr. Chief Justice Harry B. Hershey, Mr. Justice Joseph E. Daily, Mr. Justice Byron O. House, Mr. Justice Ray I. Klingbiel, Mr. Justice Walter V. Scafefer, and Mr. Justice Roy J. Solfisburg, Jr.) met in regular session in the Courtroom on February 12, 1962. A jury trial presided over by Judge Jacob M. Braude of the Circuit Court of Cook County was held in the Courtroom from April 24 through April 30, 1962. On May 17, 1962, Judge Walker Butler of the Superior Court of Cook County, sitting in the Weymouth Kirkland Courtroom, heard argument in a Chancery matter from the regular calendar of his Court.

XI. Program of Research in Law and the Behavioral Sciences

A program of research in law and the behavioral sciences has been made possible through a grant from the Ford Foundation. Four projects are now being conducted: (1) The nature and operation of the jury system. (2) The characteristics and performance of arbitration as a sublegal system. (3) A study of court congestion and judicial administration. (4) A study of intestate inheritance. The first publication of this program was the study Delay in the Court by Zeisel, Kalven, and Buchholz (Little, Brown & Co.),
XVII. Student Scholarships and Loans

The Law School awards a limited number of full-tuition National Honor Scholarships to outstanding students designated by selected colleges. In addition, a number of scholarships are available each year for law students of outstanding ability who need financial assistance. Some of these scholarships are for full tuition, some for partial tuition, and some for amounts in excess of the tuition charge. In the case of veterans, scholarship awards may be made as cash grants to supplement government living allowances. A substantial proportion of Law School scholarship aid is reserved for entering students.

The Henry C. Murphy Scholarship Endowment provides aid for worthy boys to secure an education, preference to be shown to those who plan to adopt journalism as their profession.

The LaVerne Noyes Foundation Scholarships (for veterans of World War I and their descendants) are awarded on the basis of service in the armed forces of the United States in World War I.

In addition to the general University Scholarships, the Law School has available the following:

The James Nelson Raymond Scholarship, established in 1930 from a fund given by Anna Louise Raymond in memory of her husband, James Nelson Raymond.

Two Francis Kosmerl Fellowships, each in the amount of $1,350, were established in 1948 by a bequest under the will of Francis Kosmerl, J.D. 1918.

The Class of 1915 Scholarship, a full-tuition scholarship endowed by the Class of 1915, is awarded annually, upon vote of the Law Faculty, to an outstanding student in the Junior Class of the Law School.

The Edwin B. Mayer Scholarship provides tuition aid to a student in the Law School.

The Leo F. Wormser Scholarships were established in 1935 by friends of Leo F. Wormser, J.D. 1909, for many years an eminent member of the Chicago bar, as a memorial to him. In 1940 a gift to this fund was made by Mrs. Leo F. Wormser in memory of Mr. Wormser’s mother, Mrs. Frida Wormser; and from time to time additional gifts have also been made to this scholarship fund by the family and friends of Leo F. Wormser. In 1956 the Leo F. Wormser Memorial Fund was augmented by a bequest from the estate of Mrs. Leo F. Wormser.

The James B. Blake Scholarship Fund was established in 1951 as a memorial to James B. Blake, J.D. 1907, by his friends.

The Mary Beecher Scholarship is awarded to an outstanding graduate of a women’s college in the entering class of the Law School.

The Phi Sigma Delta Scholarship, established by the members of Phi Sigma Delta fraternity, will provide a full-tuition scholarship for an outstanding law student during the academic year 1962–63.

The Anna Weiss Graff Honor Scholarship, established in 1961 by the Julian D. Weiss and Shirley W. Weiss Foundation, provides tuition aid for a worthy second- or third-year student.

Chicago Title and Trust Company Foundation Scholarships, awarded to outstanding students, have been made possible through gifts to the Law School by the Chicago Title and Trust Company Foundation.

The Arnold I. Shure Scholarship, to be awarded by the Law Faculty to a deserving law student for the academic year 1962–63 was made possible through a gift to the Law School by Frieda Shure in honor of Arnold I. Shure, a graduate of the Law School in 1929.
The Floyd Russell Mechem Prize Scholarships were originally established in 1959 as a memorial to Professor Mechem, for many years a member of the Law Faculty. In 1962 the awards were expanded and enlarged to provide a stipend of $3,000 each to a maximum of ten entering law students to be chosen by the Mechem Selection Committee on the basis of superior ability, academic qualifications, and promise. The awards are renewable for the second and third years of study at the Law School. The members of the Mechem Selection Committee are: The Honorable Tom C. Clark, Associate Justice, United States Supreme Court; The Honorable Roger J. Traynor, Associate Justice, Supreme Court of California; The Honorable Sterry R. Waterman, Judge, United States Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit; William Merritt Beaney, Professor of Politics and Chairman, Department of Politics, Princeton University; The Honorable Ross L. Malone, Past President, American Bar Association, Roswell New Mexico; J. Roland Pennock, Professor of Political Science and Chairman, Department of Political Science, Swarthmore College; The Honorable Whitney North Seymour, Past President, American Bar Association, New York, New York. The recipients of the 1962 Mechem Prize Scholarships are: J. Michael Barrier, Little Rock, Arkansas; Alec P. Bouxsein, Princeton, Illinois; Bruce S. Feldacker, University City, Missouri; Michael Gordon, St. Paul, Minnesota; Jan S. Hogendorn, Oskaloosa, Iowa; C. Richard Johnson, Elmhurst, Illinois; Peter P. Karasz, Washington, D.C.; Thomas D. Morgan, Peoria Heights, Illinois; and Grady J. Norris, Birmingham, Alabama. All applications for the Mechem Prize Scholarships should be completed prior to March 11, 1963. Students desiring to be considered for the Mechem awards may obtain the special application forms from the office of the Dean of Students of the Law School.

The Class of 1959 Scholarship was established in 1959 through contributions of that class to support the annual award of a scholarship.

Application for scholarships should be made upon a form obtained from the office of the Dean of Students of the Law School. An exception to this procedure is made in the case of the award of a National Honor Scholarship. This award is granted upon the recommendation of a participating college, and application for it should be made to that college.

In addition to scholarship aid, the Law School has available several specially endowed loan funds, as well as general University loan funds.

The special loan funds available exclusively or preferentially to students of the Law School include:

The Harry A. Bigelow Loan Fund was established in 1929 by the Law Class of 1929 in honor of the late Dean Bigelow.

The Law School Student Loan Fund is available to students in the Law School.

The Bernhardt Frank Loan Fund was established in 1952 by Louis H. Silver, J.D. 1928, in honor of his brother-in-law, who was for many years a member of the Chicago Bar and an outstanding appellate lawyer.

The Ernst Freund Loan Fund was established in 1922 by the late Professor Ernst Freund and since his death has been augmented by other contributions.

The Raphael and Rose Golde Loan Fund was established in 1955 by provision of the will of the late Joseph A. Golde, J.D. 1915, in memory of his parents.

The James Parker Hall Loan Fund was established by the alumni of the Law School in memory of the late Dean Hall.

The Ronald G. Hillebrand Memorial Loan Fund was established in 1962 by the Class of 1962 and other friends of Ronald G. Hillebrand in his memory. It is available to third-year, married students in the Law School.
The Floyd R. Mechem Loan Fund for Law Students was established in 1921 by the late Professor Floyd R. Mechem.
The Harvey Puchowitz Loan Fund was established in 1955 by friends of Harvey Puchowitz in his memory.
The Ernst W. Puttkammer Loan Fund was established in 1956 by students in the Class of 1958.
The Anna Louise Raymond Loan Fund was established in 1932 for the benefit of students in the Law School, preference to be given to women.
The Julius Rosenthal Fund was established in 1903 in memory of Julius Rosenthal by the late Judge Julian W. Mack, formerly a professor in the School.
The Frederick and Edith Shaffer Sass Loan Fund was established by Frederick Sass, Jr., Ph.B. 1930, J.D. 1932, and Louis Sass, S.B. 1932, in memory of their parents. Preference is given to students in the Law School.
The Ben and May Shapiro Loan Fund, established by Robert B. Shapiro, J.D. 1935, in memory of his parents, is available to students, preferably in the Law School, who are dependent in whole or in part upon their own efforts to secure an education.
The Clark B. Whittier Law Loan Fund was established by Professor Clark B. Whittier, a former member of the Law Faculty.
An application form for a loan may be obtained from the Office of the Dean of Students of the Law School.

XVIII. Conferences, Meetings, and Lectures

The Law School recognizes its responsibility as a law center to contribute to the development of law through research and co-operation with the profession. It recognizes also the importance of such activities as broadening influences in the education of law students. Special student seminars with members of the Bench and Bar and public conferences on major problems of the law are an integral part of the program of the School.

The opening lecture of the Autumn Quarter, 1961, was delivered by The Honorable Roger J. Traynor, Associate Justice, Supreme Court of California. During the Autumn Quarter, 1961, conferences were held on “The Illinois Criminal Code of 1961” and on “Atomic Radiation and the Law.”

Speakers and participants in the conference on “The Illinois Criminal Code” included: Marvin E. Aspen, Esq., Assistant State’s Attorney of Cook County; The Honorable Richard B. Austin, Judge of the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, and Chairman, Joint Bar Association Committee To Revise the Illinois Criminal Code; Charles A. Beilows, Esq., of the Illinois Bar; Charles H. Bowman, Professor of Law, University of Illinois, and Chairman, Drafting Sub-Committee, Joint Bar Association Committee To Revise the Illinois Criminal Code; Norval Morris, Bonython Professor and Dean of the Faculty of Law, University of Adelaide, Australia; Frank J. Remington, Professor of Law, University of Wisconsin; Warren L. Swanson, Esq., of the Illinois Bar; Herbert Wechsler, Professor of Law, Columbia University, and Reporter, American Law Institute Model Penal Code; Morris J. Wexler, Esq., of the Illinois Bar, and Secretary Joint Bar Association Committee To Revise the Illinois Criminal Law; and Francis A. Allen, Professor, The Law School, The University of Chicago, and Chairman, Drafting Subcommittee, Joint Bar Association Committee To Revise the Illinois Criminal Code.

Speakers and participants in the conference on “Atomic Radiation and the Law”